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Rockhill Agricultural Historic District is located in the southern triangular 
portion of Union Township in Hunterdon County. The area is basically farmland with 
small pockets of forests. The elevation ranges from about 520 feet in the northernmost 
section to 300 feet at Cakepoulin Creek at Kingtown. The change in elevation is 
gradual and provides for good drainage in this farm region.

There are some 28 properties in the district. Five farmhouses predate the 
American Revolution, three were established during the Federal period (ca. 1790- 
1810), six were built from 1820-40, two are mid-19th century, the church was built in 
1870, two later tenant houses were constructed sometime in the late 19th century and 
seven small cottages are modern. The remaining two properties are empty—either 
used as farmland or undeveloped.

Union Township was formed from the south part of Bethlehem Township in 1852. 
Two names were initially proposed for the township—Union, the name of the furnace 
formerly at its northeast part, and Rockhill, in honor of the families who settled 
the extreme south part of the township.

The area is sufficiently undulating, well-drained, and with virtually no marsh­ 
land. The land is good for tilling and produced large yields of grain and provided 
good pastureland for grazing throughout its history.

1. The Bethlehem United Presbyterian Church, built in 1870, is located in the 
N.W. Corner of Race Street and Rt. 513 in the Grandin area. This is a 
frame, 1 story, gable roofed structure, 5 bays deep on a raised stone 
ground floor, with a projecting central tower, that has an asbestos roof, 
overhanging eaves, a returned dentil cornice, clapboard siding with wide 
corner boards and imbricated shingles in alternating bands oh the front 
facade and tower. There are segmental arched windows on both sides with 
simple hood moulding, double hung multi-pane sash and louvered blinds. 
There are 12/12 sash on the ground level and one round arched window on 
each side of the jaentral tower. The tower is especially ornate with 
Italianate details and has a segmental arch entry with elaborate hood 
moulding. The entrance vestibule has double doors with widely moulded 
panel and round arched windows above. The square belfry has tracery 
louvers on all four sides, fcorner pilasters, dentil cornice with rounded 
arches over louvers, and a concave over convex curve in the spire, topped 
by a large finial and weathervane. A modern frame wing and a new church 
school blend in with the older structure. The church, the last of three 
churches on the same site, is in a hollow below a hew county road with 
large trees. A stonewalled grave yard to the south of old Grandin Road 
contains the graves of many prominent early citizens. Block 22, lot 
12.
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2. Crawford-Wilson Tavern is located on Rt. 513 and Race Street opposite the
Bethlehem Church. In the S.W. corner, the area is locally known as Grandin. 
The structure is random fieldstone, 2 1/2 story and gable roof and pent 
with three bays and the center hall deep form, on a bank cellar. It has 
flush gable eaves and cornice on both gables forming pent roofs. The 6/6 
sash, plain trim, side light and transomed central entry with shed roof 
porch (clipped ends) round posts and wooden deck completes the unit. The 
area under the north end is a bank cellar entry. The stone is coursed 
rubble with rough square quoins on a bank cellar. There is a ,stone chimney 
in each gable with brick stacks. The date stone in the main building is 
1765. The braced frame, stone foundation, two story, gable roofed dwelling 
across the lane has five bays and a narrow I form; a three bay with a two 
bay extension to the south. There is a slate roof, flush gable eaves and 
box cornice; 2/2 sash plain trim and clapboard siding with two small gable 
roofed entry stoops. No chimney stacks are apparent.

The property contains a 19th century wagon house which is a braced frame 
structure with shed-roofed leanto on each side; the stable is a frame two 
story structure, low and narrow, with a shed leanto on the west side, a 
hoist overhead and large door on the north gable. It has a five bay open 
arcade on the east side with clipped corners and batten doors above clap­ 
board siding. The early 20th century dairy barn is a frame gambrel roofed 
structure with batten doors and clapboard siding. All of the structures 
are sound and well maintained. Block 25, lot 18 d.

3. Edmund Frey Property. Empty lot. 26 acres. Block 25, lot 16.

4. Milky Way Farm is located on Rt. 513 and Cooks Cross Road on the N.W. corner. 
This is a stone 2 1/2 story gable roofed dwelling built in 1850. Five bays 
long, it has a center hall form with a stone and frame "ell" off the gable 
ends; slate roof and overhanging eaves. Windows are 6/6 sash with 
louvered blinds and recessed three panel shutters plus side light and 
transomed front entry, with flat roofed stoops, wide entablatures, octagonal 
posts with moulded capitals and bases complete the exterior. The second 
entry is on the south gable end. The shed roof of the rear porch has 
square posts and a balustrade railing. The front wall is constructed of 
coursed fieldstone with flat lintels and key blocks; random fieldstone and 
some coursed rubble on gables and rear. There is a full cellar divided in 
four by brick walls. The two chimneys in each gable have large brick stacks 
with corbelled drips.

subdivided property removed from nomination.
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The rear ell, a detached kitchen/woodshed/carriage house, is a two story 
frame/alette structure with gable roof. It has clapboard siding, 6/6 sash, 
two round arched openings on lower level of the south side. There is a 
chimney in the gable end of the ell with a brick stack. The spring milk house 
is a stone 1 1/2 story, gable roofed structure, with coursed rubble walls, 
slate roof and flush eaves. The 6/6 sash have batten shutters on strap 
hinges and there is a small batten door on the north wall. This structure 
has a shed addition. There is a small square frame wagon house 1 1/2 
stories high.

The barn is two part English form frame, two story, gable roofed with clap­ 
board and vertical siding and small paned sash windows. The silo has 
batten siding. There is a stone walled corral used for breeding purposes 
prior to the revolution. This is an 18th century farm (the foundation of 
the original farmhouse remains; date stone 1763) with a 19th century 
dwelling c. 1854. They are all well maintained. The ruins of a limestone 
kiln are on the property. Block 25, lot 35.

5. Grove Farm (Shipley) is located on Rt. 579 and Cooks Road on the S.W. corner. 
There is a fine alley of maples leading to the late 18th century 2 1/2 
story frame house. This clapboard dwelling has four bays with 6/6 sash, a 
porch with square columns to the north and a two story two bay addition on 
the east gable. There are three chimneys, one in each gable end in the 
gable end of the addition. To the southeast is a two room one story stone 
kitchen with a fireplace and oven in the south gable end. To the southwest 
is a 1 1/2 story, two bay frame carriage house. These three structures 
form a U shaped courtyard even though they are not attached. There are 
three large frame barns and two 19th century tenant houses built side by 
side. This 18th century house has a commanding view of the countryside. 
The farm is still being worked. Block 30, lot 1.

6. Kings Manor is located on Rt. 513 on west side in an area locally known as 
Kingtown.

A. The Manor House (Block 30, lot 4) was built around 1810 and has a 
four bay I form with a three bay deep side hall unit to its 
north, and two bay side hall unit to its north, and a two bay ell 
on the south rear. All three sections are two stories, with 
gable ends and slate roofs. They have flush gable eaves with box
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DESCRIPTION (Continued)

cornices. There are 1/1, 6/6 and 9/6 sash, plain trim with 
louvered blinds and raised four panel shutters. There is a 
simple entry in the stair hall unit with a small gable roofed 
hood on consoles and a shed roofed rear porch. There are four 
chimneys, one on the south gable, two in the north gable and one 
on the west gable of the ell. They are stone with brick stacks 
and corbelled drips. Built in three parts of coursed stone 
rubble on the gables and rear, rough square corner .jfuoi118 * anc* 
random ashlar on the front. There are finely cut splayed lintels 
with projecting key blocks.

B. The early 19th century Grist Mill (Franklin Township—across road) 
(Block 25, lot 5) is built into a bank; stone 2 1/2 story struc­ 
ture, to the rear; 1 1/2 stories in front. It has coursed rubble 
walls with rough square quoins and has been converted into a 
dwelling.

C. Tenant House (Block 30, lot 3) is a five bay narrow, two story, 
center hall, braced frame structure. It has flush gable eaves, 
box cornice, 1/1 sash, louvered shutters and a shed roofed stoop 
with square posts. It has two chimneys with high brick stacks 
and plastered exposed chimney.

D. Tenant House (Block 30, lot 3A) is a typical braced frame I house 
plus one story frame addition to north gable (modern). The house 
has three bays and the two chimney stacks in each have been 
removed.

E. Tenant House (Block 30, lot 2) is a wood frame dwelling in two
sections. One is a 2 1/2 story four bay unit with a 1 1/2 story 
two bay unit added to the north gable end. The foundation is 
stone and the plan is rectangular. There are three chimneys; one 
centered in each gable of the mainblock and the third in the 
north gable of 1 1/2 story unit. The third chimney has exposed 
brick chimney base.

All the preceeding structures appear to be sound and well main­ 
tained. The Manor House and the three frame tenant houses have 
little altered outside with the exception of some sash and doors. 
The grist mill retains its stone work but has been entirely 
rebuilt. The Manor House and mill and the tenant houses are 
early 19th century.
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7. laylor Homestead is located on the Pittstown-Jutland Road. It is a two bay, main 
block, deep form frame structure with a narrower two bay wing to the east. There 
is an enclosed shed roof porch in front of the narrower unit and a leanto on the 
east gable of this part. It has flush walls and box cornice with a wide entabla­ 
ture, freize. There are two chimneys, one centered in each gable. There are 
brick stacks with corbelled drips. Small corner pilasters with moulded caps, 
6/6 sash, plain trim, new louvered blinds complete the L-shaped exterior. A 
flat roofed entry stoop has a wide entablature and square posts. This braced 
frame structure has a stone foundation, the smaller wing is said to have been 
built first. The spring house is a stone, 1 1/2 story gable roofed structure. 
The three wagon houses are braced frame, stone foundations, 1 1/2 story structures. 
Two have leanto f s on one side; they have clapboard siding and batten doors with 
strap hinges. The main block is early 19th century; outbuildings are first half 
of the 19th century. Block 30, Lot 7.

8. Olga Peters Property. Empty two acre lot. Block 29, Lot 12.

9. Linden Farms. Block 29, Lot 13. Current owners have original sheepskin deed dated 
1757. The farmhouse is a two and one half story frame dwelling with a 1 1/2 story

stone wing to the rear. Full length one story front porch. Gable roof. There is 
two story, gabled roof, five bay wood frame structure covered in clapboard with 
a two story, three bay stone ell at the rear on the property. The plan of the 
building is "L" shaped. There are also several barns and stone outbuildings.

10. Block 29, Lot 16. Modern (c.1957) 1 1/2 story Cape Cod.

11J The Rock Hill Farm c.1747 is located at the N.W. corner of 513 and 579 in Union 
Township. It is a~~st.o.ne, 2 1/2 story, gable roofed dwelling; originally a three 
bay with stair hall that has a two bay extension to the south creating a deep 
form. There is a 2 1/2 story ell at the S.W. end to the rear and a smaller 
frame addition added to that. The extension has flush eaves, box cornices 
and three gable roofed dormers with closed louvered shutters. The top floor 
has 6/6 sash; the ground floor 9/9 sash. The pilastered entry with triangular 
pediment is modern. There is a 1/2 octagonal bay at front end of the south 
gable. There are four chimneys, two in each gable, of stone and brick. The 
brick caps have been rebuilt with stone covers. The stone work is coursed and 
uncoursed rubble with rough square quoins and no distinctive lintels. The 
springhouse is a stuccoed 1 1/2 story structure with a shingle roof.
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The smokehouse is a
small stuccoed stone gable roofed structure. The four-bay bank barn is a 
5-6 bay braced frame building with leanto on east side and a silo. The 
house has had major alterations in the 19th and 20th century, i.e. porch 
removed, new entrance door, 19th century dormers and bay window. The 
outbuildings create a courtyard effect. Block 29, lot 17.

12. Albert Randall House, ca. 1950. Frame, 1 1/2 story modern bungalow. Two 
car detached garage to the rear. Block 29, lot 18.

13. Frison/Bakos Property. Empty land. Block 29, lot 19.

14. Charles Curtis House, ca. 1950. Frame, 1 1/2 story fourbay, modern 
bungalow with small ell to rear. Block 29, lot 20.

15. Mary Bernadine House, ca. 1950. Frame 1 1/2 story, four bay, modern 
bungalow. Block 29, lot 21.

16. John Barnes House, ca. 1950. Frame, 1 1/2 story, four bay, modern 
bungalow. Block 29, lot 22.

17. Prison House. Late 19th century 2 1/2 story, four bay frame dwelling. Block 
29, lot 23.

18. J. Stires Farm. Built around 1760, this building is an unusual 2 1/2 story 
stone and frame dwelling built into a bank. This structure is stone in the 
front half and frame thereafter; the dividing point being at the roof peak. 
Gable end chimney. Wood frame vertical board barn on property. Block 29, 
lot 27.

19. W. Stires Farm (Dr. Coppolo Farm). Built around 1820, this is a frame,two 
story, five bay dwelling with gable end chimneys. Windows are 6/6 sash. 
There is a two bay, 2 1/2 story frame wing to the east and with a chimney 
in the gable end. Premises have two frame English form barns and stone 
spring and smoke houses. Huge modern silo and poultry barns. Block 29, 
lot 2.

20. Tenant House. Late 19th-early 20th century two story, four bay, frame 
dwelling. 6/6 sash. Gable and chimneys. Block 29, lot 24.
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DESCRIPTION (Continued)

21. Olin House. Early 19th century, five bay, 2 1/2 story frame I form house 
with a rear two story ell. Gable end chimneys. Windows are 6/6 sash. 
Corner pilasters. Gable roof with return. Cross gable. Block 29, lot 
25A.

22. Roerig/Nieff House, ca. 1950. Frame one story, three bay modern dwelling. 
Asbestos shingles. Block 30, lot 10.

23. Shipley Tenant Farm. First half 19th century. Two story frame dwelling, 
five bay. Windows are 6/6 sash. Gable end brick chimneys. Late 19th 
century porch across front. Two large English form frame barns on property 
in poor condition. Block 30, lot 8.

24. Leo Schroedel House, ca. 1950. Frame, 1 story, two bay, dwelling with 
asbestos shingles. Garage in basement. Block 30, lot 9.

25. Melich Farm is located off Race Street on the first dirt road to the left 
going up and under the railroad underpass. This structure is a two story, 
four bay, side hall unit with a two bay, two story addition on the east 
side and a 1 1/2 story, two bay, outside kitchen with gabled dormer windows. 
There are three chimneys, one brick stack in the west gable of the main 
block with exposed fire back and one in the east gable of the addition and 
in the east gable of the kitchen. 6/6 sash prevail with paneled shutters 
on the main block. All three sections are braced frame construction with 
clapboard. The roof is slate. There are two 2 1/2 story barns with gable 
ends and vertical Siding. This house was constructed between 1790 and 
1810 and is set in a lovely glen with pond and some small outbuildings. 
Block 25, lot ISA.

JL

26. Edmund Frey Property. Undeveloped farmland. Block 25, Lot 18.

The large amount of land included in this application is, to effectively portray 
the rural-scape of the Rockhill District and to unify the houses and outbuildings 
as a historical and functioning farm region.

Block 25, Lot 18d removed from nomination because of subdivision of 
property.
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AGRICULTURE

Rockhill Agricultural Historic District is an excellent representative example 
of a New Jersey farming region in the 18th and 19th centuries. With its few intru­ 
sions, Rockhill quite effectively reflects a 19th century agrarian culture.

Union Township, created in 1852 from Bethlehem Township, was settled in the 
mid-18th century by Edward Rockhill and family. Other early settlers included 
John Crawford, a tavern keeper in 1765, and James Parker, a large landowner.

Joseph King purchased Kings Manor and Mill in 1810 from Thomas Twining who in the 
late 18th century operated a fulling-mill and cloth-dressing establishment. This 
continuous operation stimulated the gradual settlement of the entire area with 
farmers in the 19th century.

Presently, many of those 18th and 19th century farms are still in evidence in 
Union Township, but the Rockhill farms are particularly well-preserved.

At the turn of the 19th century, 95% of the American population was involved 
with some aspect of farming. By around 1870, however, a trend towards industrializa­ 
tion was readily recognized by most everyone. While the farm continued to compete 
with manufacturing for dominance into the second quarter of the 20th century, it was 
quite clear that agriculture was losing ground to industrial pursuits. Consequently, 
by 1950, while farmsteads continued to be placed upon a romantic pedestal, fewer and 
fewer of them were surviving. At the current rate of attrition of the New Jersey 
farm only a handful will be extant by the beginning of the 21st century. Speculators, 
housing developments, and agribusiness have all contributed to making the farm a rare 
spectacle on the New Jersey landscape.

Culturally, the farmstead became a family's heritage—its lineage—with ownership 
passing from one generation to the next. The farm wed the farmer and his family to 
the soil so that during any given lifetime its owner seldom ventured beyond the scope 
of this limited environment, but in its parochial character established cherished 
legacies and traditions which varied from region to region, if not farm to farm.
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SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

Lest life on a farm be overly sweetened, it must be noted that it was not an easy 
task to work a farm, but the farm family established a firm nucleation and strength 
while reaching an appreciation and understanding of the delicate balance of the 
environment.

Outbuildings associated with farmhouse activity were constructed as extensions 
of the farm, each designed to perform a function or duty outside of the main house. 
Few outbuildings have serious architectural merit from pure aesthetics, but establish 
a significant, ambiant relationship between the farmer and his land and also provide 
insight into a fast disappearing lifestyle.

The farmhouse itself is generally a vernacular dwelling, perhaps extended from 
one generation to another to accommodate expansion and modern technology. The more 
important buildings in Rockhill appear to have been fieldstone, quite reflective of 
the Pennsylvania German housing stock across the Delaware. The buildings do generally 
portray a Pennsylvania German influence-stone houses often built into a bank, and 
forebay bank barns—although there are other features also (English farm barns, frame 
construction, courtyard pastures) which suggest a vastly complex cultural derivation 
and evolution.

Rockhill Historic District exhibits numerous pastoral features valuable for 
providing the overall concept of a farm.
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Verbal Boundary Description

Beginning at the S corner of Block 29, Lot 17 proceed NW along the east curb 
of County Route 41 to the West corner of Block 29, Lot 25-A.

Thence proceed to the North corner of said property. Thence, proceed to the 
South corner of Block 29, Lot 2A. Thence, proceed to the North corner. Thence, 
proceed along the S curb of Cook's Grove Road to the N corner of Block 29, Lot 2. 
Thence, proceed to the S. corner of Block 29, Lot 26: to and along the property 
line of Block 29, Lot 4 to the East point. Thence, proceed SE along the property 
line of Block 29, Lot 10 to the point of Block 29, Lot 11. Thence, proceed E along 
said property to the east curb of County Road 34. Thence, proceed N along said road 
to the SW corner of Block 30, Lot 1-C. Thence, proceed to the SE corner of said 
property. Thence, proceed to the NE corner of Block 30, Lot 1-B and to the NW corner. 
Thence proceed E along Cook's Cross Road to the east curb of the NJ Power and Light 
Company easement. Thence, proceed N along said easement to the Northern R.O.W. of the 
railroad tracks. Thence, proceed SE along said RR approximately 2800 feet. Thence, 
proceed N to the SW corner of Block 22, Lot 25-A. Thence, proceed along the S curb of 
the rdad to the SE curb of Block 22, Lot 27. Thence, proceed to the NE corner. Thence 
proceed to the SE corner of Block 22, Lot 22. Thence, proceed to the NE corner of Block 22, 
Lot 21. Thence, proceed SE along the stream to the NE corner of Block 4, Lot 8 in Franklin 
Township. Thence, proceed along said property to the north curb of the road. Thence, 
proceed NW along said road to the W curb of County Road 16. Thence, proceed S along said 
road (exempting recently subdivided and developed Block 25, Lots 18-D, 18-E, 18-G, 18-H, 
formerly shown as lot 16) to the SE corner of Block 30, Lot 2. Thence, proceed to the NE 
corner of Block 25, Lot 5 to the SE corner and then following the property back to the 
West curb of Route 16. Thence, proceed along the property line of Block 30, Lot 5 to SW 
corner. Thence, proceed along the property line of Block 30, Lot 6-A to the W corner. 
Thence, proceed across the road to the S curb of County Road 34. Thence, proceed SW 
along curb to the SE corner of Block 29, Lot 13. Thence, proceed S along the West curb 
of Route 16 to the point of beginning.

County Road 41 and County Road 16 are municipal boundaries and form a convenient 
district boundary to the SW and SE. The exception to these boundaries are the modern 
houses along the intersection of Route 41 and Wood Road and the Mill Building in Franklin 
Township north of the intersection of County Road 34 and County Road 16. The NE 
boundary is along the N.J. Power and Light Company right-of-way and Cook's Grr©ve Road 
to County Road 34. Save for the major farm at Block 29, Lot 2 the area between County 
Road 44 and County Road 34 along Cook's Grove Road is primarily modern and is excluded 
from the nomination. The north boundary is the railroad right-of-way, but jutting 
north at the Presbyterian Church property. The area exempted from the nominated 
area was originally vacant farmland, but was sub-divided and developed in the late 1970's.



ROCKHILL HISTORIC DISTRICT 
UNION & FRANKLIN TOWNSHIPS 
HUNTERDON COUNTY, NJ


